RESPONSE FROM HARBOTTLE & LEWIS LLP TO
THE CULTURE MEDIA AND SPORT COMMITTEE
AND
THE HOME AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

Preliminary matters
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This document responds to questions raised by the Rt Hon Keith Vaz MP
{Chairman of the Home Affairs Committee (“HAC”)) in a letter dated 21 July
2011 and by John Whittingdale OBE MP (Chairman of the Culture, Media
and Sport Committee (“CMSC™)) in a letter dated 29 July 2011. Both letters
are at Appendix A to this response.

This document proceeds as follows:
a. First, a basic chronology of relevant events.

b. Second, a detailed explanation of the limijted nature of the work which
News International instructed Harbottle & Lewis LLP (“the Firm”™) to do.

c. Third, some observations on the evidence given to the Committees by

Messrs Murdoch (senior and junior) and others.

d. Fourth, an explanation of the law of legal professional privilege and
confidentiality, in order to deal with the misconception that a solicitor is
permitted (or even obliged) to report to the police material supplied to him
by his client if that material shows that the client has been involved in
criminal conduct.

e. Fifth, an explanation of what happened to the Firm’s file after the matter
had been completed, in order to deal with suggestions from some quarters
that it should have been unearthed earlier and that there is something
untoward in the fact that it was not.

In view of the ongoing criminal investigation we have contacted the
Metropolitan Police about the contents of this document. As a result we have
been requested by the Metropolitan Police not to include any reference at all
to the contents of the emails which the Firm reviewed in 2007 at the present
time. This is not (for the avoidance of doubt) because those emails are being




kept secret: full copies of the materials which the Firm preserved in 2007 have
been passed by the Firm to the Metropolitan Police. Rather, it is because we
have been advised by the police that it is essential in order to preserve the
integrity of their criminal investigation that these emails are not released into
the public domain at present. This document therefore contains no references
at all to their contents.

Basic chronology
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Before commencing the history, we should explain its sources. No-one who
worked on this matter in 2007 {s still at the Firm. Those involved at the time
were:

a. Lawrence Abramson, who was at the time a partner in the Firm. He was
in overall charge of the exercise and was responsible for the letter of 29
May 2007 which is now the focus of attention. He left the firm on 31 May
2010 and became a partner in Fladgate LLP, another London firm of
solicitors.

b. An assistant solicitor specialising in employment law, who was brought
mto the matter because, as we explain in more detail below, the Firm’s
retainer was a narrow one focused on an employment dispute with Clive
Goodman. This assistant recorded only 3 hours 18 minutes of time on the
file and (it is clear from the records held by the Firm) played no part in
reviewing the emails in question. We have therefore thought it appropriate
not to identify him/her by name, given the intensity of media scrutiny on
this case. This assistant left the Firm’s employment in February 2010.

¢. A team of three junior employees: two paralegals and one trainee solicitor.
Again, we have mot felt it appropriate to identify them in the
circumstances. They were given the task of sifting through the electronic
records to which News International provided access. They respectively

left the firm’s employment on 28 May 2007, 30 May 2007 and 28 January

2011.

Because there is no-one now at the Firm who has first hand personal
knowledge of the relevant events in 2007, the Firm has had to place heavy
reliance on what can be reconstructed from the documentary record.

The bulk of this section deals with the work done by the Firm, but some
events before and after the Firm’s retainer {as evidenced by the documents
contained in the Firm’s file and certain publicly available information) are



included in order to put the Firm’s work (and some of the evidence given to
the CMSC) in context.

a. Mr Goodman and Glenn Mulcaire were arrested on 8 August 2006. A
pelice investigation into their activities followed, and News International
immediately engaged external solicitors (Burton Copeland, specialist
criminal defence lawyers) to deal with that investigation. It is apparent
from the evidence which was given to the CMSC in 2009 by Colin Myler,
Tom Crone, Andy Coulson, Les Hinton and Stuart Kuttner that Burton
Copeland undertook a very substantial exercise, far more substantial than
that undertaken by the Firm. We return in more detail to this evidence
below.

b. Mr Goodman pleaded guilty on 29 November 2006 to conspiracy to
intercept voicemail messages on mobile phones belonging to three
members of the Royal Houschold. Sentencing was deferred to 26
January 2007, when Mr Justice Gross sentenced Mr Goodman to 4
months imprisonment. On the same day Mr Coulson announced that he
was retiring as editor of the News of the World.

¢. On 5 February 2607, News International (Mr Hinton) wrote to Mr
Goodman terminating his employment. The letter states “f recognise this
episode followed many unblemished, and frequently distinguished, years
of service to the News of the World. In view of this, and in recognition of
the pressures on your family, it has been decided that upon your
termination you will receive one year’s salary. In all the circumstarnces,
we would of course be entitled to make no payment whatever. ... You will
be paid, through payroll, on 6 February 2007, 12 months’ base salary,
subject fo normal deductions of tax and national insurance” We draw
attention to this passage because the topic of payments to Mr Goodman
after his conviction has been the subject of questions by the CMSC on
more than one occasion’. We do not know what his annual salary was, nor
the period of rotice to which he was entitled, nor whether News
International did in fact, as Mr Hinton said it was going to, pay Mr
Goodman a year’s salary on 6 Febmary 2007. Mr Hinton also explained
that Mr Goodrman had a right to appeal internally against his dismissal.

! Paragraph 445 of the CMSC’s Second Report dated 24 February 2010 refers to evidence from News
International about the amounts paid fo Mr Goodman on the termination of his employment. The
paragraph summarises that evidence as belng that Mr Goodman was paid “notice, legal costs and a
compensatory award. The group declined to confirm the wnounts but said the awards were below the
£60,600 statulory minimunt”,
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d. On 2 March 2007, Mr Goodman wrote to News International’s Group

Human Resources Director, Daniel Cloke (copied to Mr Kuttner and Mr
Hinton), appealing against the dismissal. His first two grounds of appeal
were as follows: “(7) The decision is perverse in that the actions leading to
this criminal charge were carried out with the full knowledge and support
of [IREDACTED). Payment for Glen Mulcaire s services was arranged by
[REDACTED]. (i) The decision is inconsistent, because [REDACTED]
and other members of staff were carrying out the same illegal procedures.
.. (The names and job titles of the News International employees
mentioned here and at paragraphs 3(h)(iii), 5(n) and 5(o) below have been
redacted at the request of the Metropolitan Police so as to preserve the
integrity of their criminal investigation.)

On 6 March 2007, Mr Hinton gave evidence to the CMSC in relation to
its enquiry into self-vegulation of the press. We refer to this extract from
his evidence?:
Q95 Chairman: You carried out a full, rigorous internal inquiry, and you
are absolutely convinced that Clive Goodman was the only persen who kuew
what was going on?

Mr Hinton: Yes, we have and I believe he was the only person, but that
investigation, nnder the new editor, continues.

We do not know what the “full rigbrous internal inquiry” was which Mr

Hinton had in mind on 6 March 2007. Obviously it was not the exercise

subsequently carried out by the Firm, since that had not yet begun. Nor
can it have been the exercise in reading internal emails carried out by Jon
Chapman, Director of Legal Affairs at News International, and Mr Cloke
since it is clear that this was prompted only by Mr Goodman’s request for
those emails on 14 March 2007 (see below). Perhaps this was a reference
to the work done by News International and Burton Copeland in relation to
the police enquiry.

On 12 March 2007, Mr Cloke replied to Mr Goodman explaining the
procedure for the appeal. Mr Cloke said “If there are any documents you
wish to be considered at the appeal hearing, please provide copies as soon
as possible. If you do not have these documents, please provide details so
that they can be obtained.”

(Ar.dos

ii evidence was given in relation to the CMSC’s Seventh Report of Session 2006 — 07, “Self-
i gf the press” pablished on 11 fuly 2007,
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g. On 14 March 2007, Mr Goodman therefore submitted a lengthy list of the

i.

documents which he wanted News International to provide for the
purposes of his appeal. These included emails passing between himself
and various News of the World executives on various topics,

We do not know for certain what happened between the date of Mr
Goodman’s request for documents on 14 March 2007 and the Firm being

- instructed on 9 May 2007. However, the following may reasonably be

deduced from an email of instructions sent by Mr Chapman to Mr
Abramson on 10 May 2007. (Copies of this document together with the
fax from Mr Chapman to Mr Abramson to which it refers are at Appendix
B. Certain names have been redacted at the request of the Metropolitan
Police.)

i. News International refused Mr Goodman’s request for documents.

ii. News International gathered together all the emails “which [News
International’s| IT department were able to recover from archive”
fitting the categories set out by Mr Goodman in his request. It
seems from an email from Simon Lowndes (Head of Managed
Services in News International’s Information Technology
Department) dated 14 May 2007 that these emails were placed into
“5 sub-folders” in a Human Resources folder for Mr Cloke on
News International’s server.

iii. Mr Chapman and Mr Cloke had themselves been through these
emails for the purpose of finding any evidence “fo support the
contentions made by Goodman in his letter of 2 March 2007,
paragraphs i and i - iLe. that his illegal activities were known
about and supported by [REDACTED), and that [REDACTED],
and others were carrying out similar illegal procedures”. Mr
Chapman and Mrx Cloke “found nothing that amounted to
reasonable evidence of either of the above contentions”,

On 9 May 2007 Mr Chapman telephoned Mr Abramson (then a partner in
the Firm). They had worked together before on a number of civil
litigation matters for News International. There is no note of the
conversation on the file, but Mr Chapman then sent instructions to Mr
Abramson by email on 10 May 2007 (see Appendix B). This email set
out the history above about Mr Goodman’s dismissal and appeal, and the
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review which had already been carried out by Mr Chapman and Mr Cloke,
and went on to say “Because of the bad publicity that could result in an
allegation in an employment tribunal that we had covered up potentially
damaging evidence found on our email trawl, I would ask that you, or a
colleague, carry out an independent review of the emails in question and
report back to me with any findings of maierial that could possibly tend to
support either of Goodman’s contentions. We will make available to you
access to the emails in question as soon as possible”. The limited nature
of this retainer is the subject of further comment below.

On 14 May 2007, Mr Abramson sent Mr Chapman a retainer letter and the
Firm’s standard terms of engagement. Importantly these ferms include the
following: “Qur advice is provided to you and may not, without our prior
written consent, be disclosed to any other party. You will not refer fo us
or to our advice in any public documents or communication without our
prior written consent”. We return to the purpose of this term, which is a
common one in the contractual terms on which professionals such as
solicitors and accountants are prepared to do business, below.

For the purposes of its exercise, the Firm was given remote electronic
access to emails on News International’s server rather than being supplied
with paper copies. The Firm was therefore given instructions as to how to
access “the Public Folder within the News International MS Exchange
emai} system”. As mentioned above, the emails which the Firm was to
review were conlained in five sub-folders within the system. There has
been some reference in the evidence of News International witnesses to a
search of “2,500” emails, but because this was a remote access exercise
only, the Firm is not now able to say how many emails were contained in
those sub-folders. On 15 May 2007 Mr Abramson assembled and briefed
a team of three junior employees (a trainee solicitor and two paralegals).
(It is standard practice in civil litigation to use junior employees to review
large bodies of documentation because this is the most cost-effective
process.) They were instructed to carry out the remote searches, assemble
any material which might be of interest, and draw it to Mr Abramson’s
attention for his review and consideration.

It seems that electronic access was not entirely straightforward: some
emails appeared only in cut off form and there was difficulty in (for
example) opening attachments to emails. Presumably for these reasons,
the file shows that News International (Mr Lowndes) printed off some
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emails and sent them to the Firm in hard copy by courier on either 16 or
17 May 2007. (Even then some of the emails appeared only in cut off
form.)

m. In relation to the review of the emails, the time records held by the Firm

suggest the following as a summary of work during the refainer:

i. The team of junior employees spent a total between them of about
46 hours (spread between 15 and 24 May 2007) on this matter,
their time mostly being spent in searching through the email sub-
folders by remote access.

ii. Out of a total of 8 hours 24 minutes recorded by Mr Abramson on
this matter between 9 and 30 May 2007, 1 hour and 42 minutes
were specifically attributed to reading the emails. On 18 May
2007, Mr Cloke emailed Mr Abramson asf{ing “if we could have
the results next week. I'd like to write to CG own Thursday if at all
possible.” (We return below to what this indicates about the
purpose of the exercise being done by the Firm.) Mr Abramson
also recorded 30 minutes on 22 May 2007 in meeting the junior
team to review progress, and this meeting almost certainly
included some consideration of whatever emails had by then been
found and thought of potential relevance. In addition, Mr
Abramson made a time entry of 24 minutes for a telephone
discussion with News International on 24 May 2007; there is no
note of this conversation on the file.

n. On Friday 25 May 2007, Mr Abramson sent an émail to Mr Chapman at

13:13 headed “Draft for discussion this pm”. The email set out the
proposed text of a letter recording the findings of the email review, It
stated “We have on your instructions searched the emails that you were
able to let us have access o from the accounts of [REDACTED]. [ can
confirm that we did not find any evidence that proved that [REDACTED]
knew that Clive Goodman, Glen Mulcaive or any other journalists at the
News of the World were engaged in illegal activities prior to their arrest.” -

. There was then a short telephone discussion, probably about the draft, that

same day: emails from 24 May 2007 show a call being arranged for 14:15
on 25 May 2007, and Mr Abramson’s time records show a short call on 25
May 2007. Subsequently, at 16:12 on 25 May 2007, Mr Chapman sent an
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email to Mr Abramson suggesting some changes to the text. Mr
Chapman’s suggested version stated as follows (we have added marking to
show the changes): “We have on your instructions searched reviewed the
emails that-yeu—were—able—tolet-us—have—osess—to to_which you have
provided access from the accounts of [REDACTED)]. These emails cover
the period from [ Jto [ ] I can confirm that we did not find eny
evidencethat-proved anything which appeared to us fo prove that either
[REDACTED] or [REDACTED] knew that Clive Goodman, Glen
Mulcaire or any other jowrnalists-at person emploved or engaged by the
News of the World were-engaged was involved in illegal activities prior to
their the arrest of Messrs Goodman and Mulcaire. Equally, having seen a
copy of Clive Goodman's notice of appeal_of 2 March 2007, we did not

find anvthing that we consider to be directly relevant to the grounds of

appeal put forward by him.”

. Mr Abramson responded briefly by email the same day at 17:53 1 “Jcan’t

say the last sentence [ie. the sentence beginning “Equally”] in the
penultimate para, I'm afraid. Can we discuss next week?”

. The time records do not show any further telephone discussion. Instead, at

12:50 on Tuesday 29 May 2007, Mr Chapman sent Mr Abramson an
email (copied to Mr Cloke) which began “Affer discussing this further,
Daniel and I would like to try to get slightly closer to the wording of my
original instruction email which stated ...”. Mr Chapman then quoted his
10 May 2007 email, and went on “I would suggest the following”. He
then set out what became the text of the 29 May 2007 letter, apart from a
sentence which read {in Mr Chapman’s text) “These emails cover the

periodfrom [ Jtof ]".

At 13:03 on 29 May 2007, Mr Abramson sent Mr Chapman an email
stating “T think I can say this. I'll get it finalised. Would you prefer a
letter or an email?”, Mr Chapman responded at 13:54 with “Great.
Would be good to have it on letterhead”, and asking Mr Abramson fo
“drop the sentence which reads 'These emails cover the period from [ fo
[ 7. which Mr Abramson did. The final letter was issued that day.

At some point in July 2007, News International settled Mr Goodman’s

. potential claiza for unfair dismissal. This was on the terms of a

confidential compromise agreement which News International negotiated
itself, without involving the Firm, directly with Mr Goodman’s solicitors.




It involved a payment to Mr Goodman: the Firm does not know whether
this payment was in addition {o the year’s salary which Mr Hinton’s letter
of 5 February 2007 had indicated would be paid to Mr Goodman on 6
February 2007. The Firm had no involvement whatever in this settiement
(although Mr Abramson was subsequently instructed by News
International in 2008 in relation to a complaint by Mr Goodman that News
International bad breached a “non-disparagement” clause in the
agreetnent, which is how the Firm has knowledge of the terms of
settlement at ail.) We have not set out the amount of the payment to Mr
Goodman because the compromise agreement is expressed to be
confidential, and it is for both News International and Mr Goodman to
decide whether that confidentiality is to be waived. However, we
comment below on the implications of this settlement, in July 2007, of Mr
Goodman’s appeal for James Murdoch’s claim that News International
was still “resting” on the letter of 29 May 2007 in 2008-2010.

The Retainer: what the Firm was asked to do

6
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The Firm would like to draw the following points to your attention about its
retainer in May 2007,

The retainer was expressly limited to the context of Mr Goodman’s
employment dispute. The Firm was being asked to assist News International
in dealing with Mr Goodman’s internal appeal against his dismissal. The
instructions might fairly be paraphrased as: “If we reject Goodman’s appeal
against dismissal and he brings employment tribunal proceedings, what is the
risk of him establishing from these ernails that other people were aware of his
phone hacking activities, or were doing the same thing themselves?” The
point of the exercise which the Firm was asked to do was directly, specifically
and solely related to assisting News International in assessing how to handle
Mr Goodman’s appeal against dismissal. Thus in context, the advice of the
Firm in the letter of 29 May 2007 was only that if News Intemnational pushed
this matter to an employment tribunal, there was nothing in the emails
reviewed which provided “reasonable evidence” that Mr Goodman’s grounds
of appeal were well founded. It went no further than that (and even in that
confext it seems not to have been relied upon by News International in any
event, as we explain below.)

There was absolutely no question of the Firm being asked to provide News
International with a clean bill of health which it could deploy years later in
wholly different contéxts for wholly different purposes. If the letter was to be
communicated to any third party, then so far as the Fum was aware that third



party would be Mr Goodman (as had been indicated in Mr Cloke’s email of 18
May 2007). But it went no further than that, The Firm was not being asked to
provide some sort of “good conduct certificate” which News International
could show to Parliament, or the police, or anyone else outside the context of
Mr Goodman’s employment claim. Nor was it being given a general retainer,
as Mr Rupert Murdoch asserted it was, “fo find out what the hell was going
on™. The problem of clients seeking to use advice which is being provided
for one purpose for another, different and unforeseen, purpose is one which
arises regularly for professionals and it was therefore covered in the Firm’s
standard terms and conditions: “"QOur advice is provided to you and may not,
without our prior written consent, be disclosed to any other party. You will
not refer to us or to our advice in any public documents or communication
without our prior written consent”.

If News International had ever approached the Firm (as it should have done)
1o seek consent for the 29 May 2007 letter being deployed before Parliament
as evidence of its corporate innocence, the Firm would not have agreed
without further discussion. The reason for that is that the exercise which was
done in 2007 was simply not one which was designed to bear the weight
which News Intemnational now seeks to place upon it. Tt was a short review
lasting only two weeks in total*. By far the bulk of the time spent on it was
recorded by three junior employees. The partner involved, Mr Abramson, had
spent in total time amounting to only one working day on the exercise, and a
great deal less than that in actually reviewing the emails. The exercise had
been conducted only by civil practitioners, because this was a classic civil
litigation question: a client asking the Firm to evaluate, in the context of a
civil law employment dispute, what impact certain documents might have if
they came to be disclosed in that potential litigation. No lawyers specialising
in (or indeed with any real knowledge of) criminal law had been involved at
all, precisely because this was a civil law question. No witnesses had been
interviewed; this was a “desk top” exercise. The bill was £10,294 plus VAT >
which is, in context, not a large sum (compare this with the evidence of Mr
James Murdoch that News International was advised that the litigation costs
for the Gordon Taylor and Max Clifford cases “were expected to be between

: wdume given by Mr Rupert Murdoch before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q3066. Thisisa
cfzrence io an uncorrected transcript of oral evidenece, as are all the following references to the July 2011
this response.

of the emails began on 15 May 2007 and the letter was written on 29 May 2007.

noteworthy that the bill was sent to Mr Cloke in News International’s HR department and thus
oty came out of the HR budget, on the basis that it was an employment related matter,

w67 i {2).dot ' 10



10

£300,000 and £1 million”). If, therefore, the Firm had been asked in 2009 or
2010 whether News International could use its 2007 advice, which had been
given to assist in assessing how to handle Mr Goodman's employment
dispute, for the very different purpose of bolstering its stance before
Parliament, or indeed for any other purpose outside the defunct Goodman
employment dispute, the Firm would undoubtedly have refused unless it could
have been satisfied that the letter was not going to be presented in a
misleading manner. This would have required proper explanation to be given
of the limited nature of the Firm's retainer, as well as the specific purpose of
the exercise which had been performed in 2007 and its limited scope.

If the Firm had initially been given a retainer as broad as instructions “fo find
out what the hell was going on” or (to put it more formally) to undertake an
investigation which News International could use for broader purposes, such
as laying it before Parliament as independent support for the “one rogue
reporter” theory, the Firm would have refused the instructions.  Instructions
of that nature would amount to asking whether there was evidence of wide
ctiminal conduct by News International’s employees: this would have been a
criminal matter, and the Firm has no expertise in that field. Any solicitors
accepting instructions of that nature would probably have done at least the
following:

a. insisted on unlimited access to all emails and other records of News
International, rather than being restricted to a limited selection produced
by News International itself;

b. insisted on direct access to key witnesses;

¢. insisted on News International instructing both specialist criminal lawyers
and forensic accountants;

d. engaged specialists in forensic computer analysis to assist in {inding
emails and other electronic evidence; and

e. required access to the documents seized by the police from Mr Mulcaire.
A review of this nature would have taken a long time (as opposed to a

fortnight, which is the period between the Firm commencing work through
remote access to the emails on 15 May 2007 and the letter being written on 29

¢ Byidence given by Mr James Murdoch before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q265.
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May 2007) and would have cost a very great deal of money (far more than
£10,000).

11~ The reason that none of these things happened is that what the Firm did was

- only a short and limited exercise, undertaken for the one specific purpose of

assisting News International in deciding internally how to handle Mr

Goodman’s employment claim. The Firm undertakes civil litigation and such

a question was within the scope of its expertise; that was precisely why News

International had instructed the Firm on this narrow civil law question. But

the wider purposes for which News International now claims to have been

relying upon the letter were not within the scope of the Firm’s expertise {(or
retainer). ‘

12 In this context, the Firm would like to comment on some gvidence given to
the HAC on 19 July 2011 by Lord Macdonald (who has recently advised
News Corporation on a small selection of the emails which were on the Firm’s
file). Lord Macdonald stated that the Firm “prepared a letter that was to be
Jorwarded to the DCMS Committee ... the communication was sent to the
Committee, and that file remained, as I undersiand it, in Harbottle & Lewis's

" offices™, and also “There seemed to be a process whereby information was
going to be given o a Select Committee—the DCMS Committee—about
- whether or not the company had come into possession of any more material
relating fo phone hacking or associated criminality *8, The Firm would like to
observe, with respect, that this is not accurate. The letter of 29 May 2007 was
not prepared “fo be forwarded” to the CMSC and the process in which the
Firm was instructed was not one in which “information was going to be given
to a Select Commitiee”. The letter of 29 May 2007 was not addressed to the
CMSC and was not intended for use before Parliament. Nor was it so used

until years after it had been written. As explained above, if the Firm had been.

asked for permission for the letter to have been used in that way, it would
have refused unless it could have been satisfied that the letter was not going to
be presented in a misleading manner. The Firm had no idea that News
International was going to submit the 2007 letter to the CMSC in 2009-10,
and first knew that this had been done only wheén the letter was (briefly)
referred to in the CMSC’s Second Report dated 24 February 2010°.

7 Evidence given by Lord Macdonald before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q1003-4.

¥ Evidence given by Lord Macdonald before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q1018.

* CMSC’s Second Report dated 24 February 2010 at para 435. Tt follows from the above that the Firm
also, with respect, does not think that a remark which Myr Farrelly MP is widely reported to have made
(“Harbottle & Lewis stand right up there with all the other people who have come to us and maintained
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13 Finally on the question of its retainer, the Firm would like to draw attention to
the fact that its remit was specifically limited by News International to a
search for evidence supporting Mr Goodman’s first two contentions in his 2
March 2007 letter: (a) that certain named individuals knew about and
supported his interception of voicemail messages, and (b) that other News of

the World staff were themselves carrying out the same activities (i.e. phone-

hacking). This was not a broad instruction to search for evidence of other
criminal acts (and again, as civil Jitigators without criminal law expertise, the
Firm would not have accepted such instructions). Whatever was shown to
Lord Macdonald by Messrs Hickman & Rose, it cannot have been evidence
relating to knowledge of phone hacking since, as Lord Macdonald has pointed
out in his evidence, he was conflicted in relation to phone hacking and could
not look at documents relating to that issuc'®. He said that the cmails he was
shown were “fo do with an entirely separate issue” from phone hacking''. It
is apparent from Lord Macdonald’s own evidence, therefore, that the material
on which he was commenting fell outside the scope of News International’s
2007 instructions to the Firm. As Lord Macdonald said in his evidence before
the CMSC in July 2011"*:

" I do not know what Harbottle and Lewis were looking at it for. If they were
looking at it in terms of whether it supplied more evidence of phone hacking,
that is one guestion. If they were looking at it for evidence of wider
criminality, that is another question.

As explained above, the Firm was indeed engaged to look for “more evidence
of phone hacking”, and was not engaged to look for “evidence of wider
criminality”.

Comments on various aspects of evidence given to Parliament
14 The Firm has been asked by the CMSC (question 15 of its letter of 29 July

2011) to set out any matters in respect of which it believes that the CMSC or
its predecessor may have been given misleading or inaccurate information
about the review undertaken by the Firm, '

there was orly one rogue reporter.”) is accurate (if it was stated in the terms reported). The Firm did not
“come (0" the CMSC and did not write its letter for submission to the CMSC, )
0 Bvidence given by Lord Macdonald before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q1006 T said, "I
can't look at amything thor has anything to do with phone hacking.” They said, "This is an ssue that isn't
to do with phone hacking; it's entirely separaie”.’

" Byidence given by Lord Macdonald before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q1020, and see (00
answers to Q1055-6 (“rot connected with phone hacking”, “not to do with hacking™).

*# Evidence given by Lord Macdonald before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q1067,
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15 The principal point on which the Firm wishes to commient in this respect is the
suggestion in the evidence of the Murdochs that Mr Abramson’s letter of 29
May 2007 was one of three things upon which News International relied (or as
Mr James Murdoch frequently put it, “rested on™) in maintaining until late
2010 the belief that Mr Goodman was a solitary “rogue reporter”. The Firm
does not accept that that is so. This is not perhaps the forum in which the
proposition advanced by Mr James Murdoch can best be challenged, but for
now the following points are made.

a. As set out above, the exercise undertaken by the Firm was short, limited in
terms of access to documents, without any access at all to witnesses,
undertaken by civil practitioners, and undertaken for a narrow and specific
purpose in an employment dispute. All these matters were known to
News International, which therefore could not reasonably have relied upon
it for any broader purpose and (it is to be inferred) did not in fact do so.

b. It is notable that the evidence of Mr James Murdoch on 19 July 2011 is the
very first time that any witness on behalf of News International suggested
that the letter had been of such fundamental importance. Not one of
Messrs Crone, Myler, Kuttner, Coulson or Hinton made any such
suggestion in their evidence in 2009. Although there was extensive
reference in their 2009 evidence to the exercise which had been done for
News International by Burton Copeland (as set out below), not one of
these witnesses referred to the letter of 29 May 2007 or even so much as
mentioned the Firm’s name. The letter was only supplied to the CMSC,
after oral evidence, as a result of, and in response to, CMSC Question 8",
This would be a surprising sequence of events if News International had in
fact been “resting” on the letter as was suggested.

c. In fact, it is hard fo see that News International “rested on” the letter even
in 2007 and even for the limited purpose for which it was created. As set
out above, that purpose was to assist News International in handling Mr
Goodman’s appeal against dismissal. If News International had “rested
on” the letter of 29 May 2007 as establishing that Mr Goodman’s grounds
of appeal were ill-founded, it seems unlikely that it would have settled Mr
Goodman’s claim on the terms of the July 2007 Settlement Agreement: it

B «Are there any written reports, either internal or by the lawyers you appotnted, of the investigations into
the activities of Goodman and Mulcaire, or other inquiry agents? If so the Conmittee would be grateful for
sight of these.”
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would have been more likely to have fought Mr Goodman through
* tribunal proceedings, especially given the terms of settlement previously
indicated in Mr Hinton’s 5 February 2007 letter.

d. The CMSC has suggested to witnesses that News International settled its
litigation with Mr Taylor and/or Mr Clifford at the levels which it did
because the civil disclosure exercise had produced evidence' suggesting
that phone hacking was not confined to Mr Goodman. If it transpires that
this is the case, then it must follow that News International knew at that
time that the letter couid not be “rested on” in a wider context than that in
which it had been provided. It must also follow that News International
knew at that time that there was other evidence (not contained in the “5
sub-folders”) which demonstrated that there was a wider problem at News
Infernational in respect of phone hacking. Thereafter, News International
could not possibly have “rested on” the letter even assuming that it had
done so before.

e. In this context, the CMSC may wish to consider whether News
International has waived any right to claim privilege over the legal advice
it received (internally and externally) about the need to settle the Taylor
litigation and the quantum of that settlement. In civil litigation, if a party
deploys in evidence privileged material, then he waives privilege in all
associated material so that the Court and the other party can see that what
has been released from privilege is a fair account of the advice received,
and that a misleading impression has not been created'”. At the July 2011
hearing News Intemational (by Mr James Murdoch and others) gave
extensive evidence of the legal advice it received in settling the Taylor
litigation as follows:

Mr James Murdoch: Thirdly, the company sought distinguished outside
eounsel to understand that, if the case were litigated and if it were to be lost,
which was the great likelihood, what the financial quantumn would be or what
that would cost the company. It was advised that, with legal expensés and
damages, it could be between £500,000 and £1 million or thereabouts. I do
not recall the exact number of the advice. T think that it was £250,000 plus
expenses, plus litigation costs—something like that'®

" Such as the “For Neville” email. See Guardian Newspaper article dated 22 July 2011.
P The classic authority is the decision of Mustill J (later Lord Mustill) in The Nea Kateria {1981] Com
LR 138.

'® Evidence given by Mr James Murdoch before the CMSC on 19 Fuly 2011 in answer to 9242,
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Mr James Murdoch: The advice was very, very clear as to what sort of
damages could be expected to be paid and it was quite clear and quite likely
that if litigated, the company would lose that case, 17

Q260 Mr Sanders: In 2009, Mr Crone and Mr Myler informed us that they
decided to settle Mr Taylor's ¢laim on the advice of the company's external
legal advisers. Was that advice from Farrer & Co. solicitors?

James Murdoch: Farrer & Co. has done work for us. I do not know precisely
which external counsel Mr Crone and Mr Myler engaged on that, but I can
clarify it. ]

Q261 Mr Sanders: Did you see the advice, whether it was from Farrer & Co.
or anyone else?

James Murdoch: No. I received the advice orally from Mr Myler and Mr
Crone.

Q262 Mr Sanders: What was their advice?

James Murdoch: Tt was as 1 described it.

Q263 Mr Sanders: Simply to settle?

James Murdoch: And that outside legal advice bad been taken on the
expected quantum of damages: Their advice was that the case would be lost
and that, in the absence of any new evidence—I was certainly not made
aware of any new evidence——it was simply a matter related to events that
came to light in 2007 and in the criminal trials before I was there. It was a
maller in the past. '

Mr Murdoch: The amount paid rested on advice from outside counsel on the
amount we would be expected to pay in damages, plus expenses and
litigation costs.’*

Mr Murdoch: What we knew, and what I knew, at the time was that we had
sepior distinguished outside counsel to whom we had gons to ask, "If this
case were litigated, and if the company were to lose the case, what sort of
damages would we expect to pay?" The company received an answer that
was substantial, *

f. The CMSC may therefore consider asking (or indeed requiring) News
International to disclose that advice and all related documents which go to
show the reasons for the decision to seitle at that quantum. This would
extend not only to the advice received from external lawyers, whoever

7 Bvidence given by Mr James Murdoch before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q255.
¥ Rvidence given by Mr James Murdoch before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q264.

? Evidence given by Mr James Murdoch before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q286. It is
wotth noting the terms of the evidence given to the CMSC by Mr Myler on this topic on 21 July 2005:
“Q1430 Adam Price: Some people have said tha the fact you agreed to such a large sum suggests that you
were concerned about some of the information which would leak out as a-result of that case?

Mr Myler: It was actually quite simple: our outside lawyers' advice, who had taken counsel's advice, was
very strongly that we had to settle, and should settle. Thal advice was shared internally by our infernal
lawyers and I agreed, If really was as siraighiforword as that, "
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they were, but also to the advice from Mr Crone™. Jt would be of interest
to learn whether the dialogue between News International and its lawyers
about whether to settle Mr Taylor’s claim, and if so at what level, included
any reference to any documents which had emerged in the civil law
disclosure exercise (including, but not limited to, advice given to News
Intemnational about the impact of the “For Neville” email which was
produced by Mr Taylor’s lawyers during that litigation.)

g. The suggestion that News International could possibly have continued to
“rest on” the letter even after the CMSC’s Second Report was published in
February 2010, with its finding of “collective amnesia” by News of the
World witnesses, is hard to credit,

16 In addition, the Firm would like to draw to the CMSC’s attention to the
following evidence given to it in 20097,

Mr Myler: 1 think the first thing to remember is that as spon as Mr Goodman
and_Mr Muleaire were arrested News International had an outside firm of
solicitors to absolutely oversee the investigation to cooperate with the police,
to be a bridgehead, to give whatever facility the police required. It was
completely hands-off, if you like, for transparency from the company's point

. 22
of view.

Q1388 Paunt Farrelly: Who were the solicitors who handled the

investigation?
Mr Croneg: Burion Copeland. They are probably the leading firm in this ‘
country for white collar fraud.

(1389 Paul Farrelly: Did that investigation go wider than investigating the
circumstances because the couri case was coming up of the
Mulcaire/Goodman connection? Did it go wider and ask people such as the
deputy editor, the managing editor, the news editor, the chief reporter as to
whether they had been involved in any way with Mr Mulcaire? Did it go
wider? '

Mr Crone: Sorry, this is for me?

Q1390 Paul Farrelly: No, this is to Mr Myler because Mr Myler gave
evidence to the PCC,
Mr Myler: 1 think Mr Crone is the best person to answer.

% Under English law, legal professional privilege applies just as much to the dialogue between a client and
its in-house lawyer, like Mr Crone, as it does to the dialogue between a client and its external Jawyer, Thus
it is possible for News International to withhold documents or material from its evidence on the basis of
legal professional privilege attaching to communications to and from Mr Crone.

¥ This evidence was given in relation to the CMSC’s Second Repori of Session 2009-10, “Press standards,
é:vrz’vacy and libel” published on 24 February 2010,

* Bvidence given by Mr Myler before the CMSC on 21 July 2009 in answer to Q1384.
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Q1391 Paul FarreHy: This is the basis of the evidence you gave to the PCC.
Mr Myler: Mr Crone was there. This arrest took place, 1 believe, in August
2006. 1 think you should allow Mr Crong ~~--~

Q1392 Paul Farrelly: To your knowledge, did that investigation go wider?
Mr Myler: Wider than what?

Q1393 Paul Farrelly: Than simply the relationship between Goodman and
Mnulcaire, Did the people either interview them or ask them to come forward
under the basis of an amnesty if they had done something wrong to reveal
themselves? Did it go to the accounts department?

Mr Myler: I do not know whether or not the polics -—--

Q1394 Paul Farrelly: No, it is not the police. It is the News International
investigation when you arrived. 1 want to know what your knowledge was of
how far the rerait went?

Mr Myler: My recollection wag that a very thorough investization took place
where there was a review of evervthing from how cash payments were
processed. You have to remember that the Mulcaire contract, which the judge
in the Goodman/Mulcaire trial said was absolutely above board and legal,
meant that the staff had access to him 24/7. He was conducting enguiries
perfectly legally and lawfully that meant journalists could catl him for checks
on electoral rolls or whatever, As 1 understand it, the inquiry was thorough;
and to the executives that were there at the time they were happy with that.

Q1395 Paul Farrelly: Mr Crone, how wide was the inquiry? You understand
the questions I am asking?

My Crone: Yes, [ got back the Tuesday after the arrests. They were arrested
on one Tuesday and [ was there the week after. By the time I got back, which
must have been August 135, Burton Copeland were in the office virtually
gvery dav or in contset with the office every day. My understanding of, their
remit was that they were brought in to go over gverything and find out what
had gone on, to liaise with the police ----—

Q1396 Paul Farrelly: Everything to do with Mulcaire and Goodman?

Mr Crone: Yes, but what you have got to realise is, at the time the only case
being looked at was an access of a Royal household - voicemails. The other
names did not become known to us or, as far as [ know, anyone else apatt
from the prosecution and the police, and the defence lawyers probably knew
slightly earlier; the other names did not come out until November 29, which
is five months later. What I think was being enquired into was what had gone
on leading to the arrests; what, in the relationship with Mulcaire, did we have
to worry about. Burfon Copeland came in: they were given absolutely free-
range to ask whatever they wanted to ask. They did risk accounts and they
have got four lever-arch files of payment records, everything to do with
Mulcaire,_and there is no_evidence of anvthing going beyond in terms of
knowledge into other activities.
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Q1397 Paul Farrelly: 1 want to wrap-up fairly shorlty. When the other
names came into the frame after November 29, did the remit of the
investigation in News International broaden?

Mr Crone: Yes, to some extent but the questions had already been asked.
Was anyone involved with Mulcaire, or doing this, that or the other? Burton
Copetand _had looked at all of the financial records; and there was
subsequently an email check done which went to 2,500 emails; and that
produced no evidence either,

Q1398 Paul Farrelly: The question: was anyone else invelved with
Mulcaire? The answer was: no. Nothing ¢lse was found?
Mr Crone: No evidence was found.

Q1663 Mr Farrelly: Can I just ask you about Clive Goodman. You say you
were deceived. How was Clive Goodman able to pay £12,300 to Glenn
Muleaire? Was it actually in readies or did {t go throngh the accounts
department in a masked way?

My Kuttaer: | think the answer to the first parf is it was in cash, it was a cash
payment. The answer to the second part is that it was all accounted for in the
documentation and that is the material that either directly on their own
account to the investigating police team, or through Burton Copeland, the
solicitor who was looking into these things at News Internationaf, was all
disclosed.

Q1719 Tom Watson: When you found out about the arrests. Presumably
you commissioned an inquiry?

Mr Coulson: Yes. Obviously we wanted to know internally very quickly
what the hell had gone on. Then I brought in Burton Copeland, an

independent firm of solicitors to carry out an investigation. We opened up the
files as much as we could, There was nothing that they asked for that they

were not given.ﬁ3

Q2168 Paul Farrelly: ...Can [ just ask you on what basis did you feel able
to give that answer, that to your recollection Tom Crone said that various
investigations had been undertaken interpally as the fazcts established
themselves as the charges and trial developed. Can you tell us on what basis
you gave us that answer?

Mr Hinton: ...He [Andy Coulson] had numerous conversations, the charges
were laid, he invoked the help of Tom Crone, who is a company lawyer with
a lot of experience,,, We bought in a firm of solicitors and there were many,
many conversations with the police, and not invelving me.

17 Bvidence was also given by News International to the Press Complaints
Commission (“PCC”) on the role of Burton Copeland. The PCC report on
phone message tapping allegations dated 9 November 2009 refers at

* See also answers 1o questions 1470, 1471 and 1558 asked by the CMSC in 2009.
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138

paragraph 9.2 to Mr Myler's evidence that “Burton Copeland were given
‘every financial document which could possibly be relevant’ to the paper’s
dealings with Mulcaive and they confirmed that ‘they could find no evidence

from these documents or their othér enguiries which suggested complicity by

The News of the World or other members of its staff beyond Clive Goodman in
criminal activities™.

The Firm draws attention to this evidence because it indicates that there has
been some confusion in the mind of Mr Rupert Murdoch, or perhaps that he
has been misinformed, about the role of the Firm. As stated above, his
account of the instructions to the Firm were that it had been retained “to find
out what the hell was going on”™. It is quite clear that that is not what the
Firm was instructed to do. But the evidence above suggests that Mr
Rupert Murdoch may in fact have been thinking of the instructions given
to Burton Copeland®. Given that News International has waived
privilege over its instructions to and advice from the Firm, the CMSC
might consider asking News International similarly to waive privilege
over its instructions to and advice from Burton Copeland.

Privilege and Confidentiality

19

20

It has been suggested that if the Firm had found evidence, in the course of its
retainer by News International, of criminal offences having been committed
by News International executives, then the Firm would have been entitled (or
even obliged) to report its findings directly to the police. The Firm wishes to
explain the correct position, as to which the law is clear.

When a client consults a lawyer to take advice in a relevant legal context, then
what the client tells the lawyer is subject to legal advice privilege. This means
that the lawyer is obliged to keep what he or she learns about the client’s
affairs in the course of the retainer éomplete]y confidential, unless and until
the client decides otherwise. (It is for this reason that it has been so difficult
for the Firm to provide this response to the Committees.) We have set out in
Appendix C a summary of the relevant law.

B967583 (2).doc

* Bvidence given by Mr Rupert Murdoch before the CMSC on 19 July 2011 in answer to Q366.

% A further indication that Mr Rupert Murdoch may have been thinking of the role of Burton Copeland
rather than the Firm is his answer to Q169 in his evidence before the CMSC on 19 Fuly 2011: *Q169 Mr
Watson: What did News International do subsequent fo the arrest of Clive Goodman and Glenn Mulcaire
to get to the facts? Rupert Murdoch: We worked with the police on further investigation and
eventually we appointed—very quickly appeinted—a very leading firm of lawyers in the City to
investigate if further.” The Firm was not retained till May 2007, which cannot be viewed as being “very
quickly appointed” after the arrests in August 2006.
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Even if, therefore, some emails reviewed by the Firm had been suggestive of
ctiminal conduct by employees of News International, then the Firm could not
possibly have reported this to the police without client consent. That would
have been against the Firm’s obligations under clear modern law of the
highest authority and a very serious breach of professional conduct. Further,
neither common law, statute or regulation imposed any relevant obligation on
the Firm to break its duties of confidence by reporting to any external
authority. Criticism of the Firm for failing to report News International to the
police or any other external body is therefore wholly misplaced, regardless of
what the emails do or do not show.

What happened to the file

22

It has been suggested in some quarters that it is surprising that it took until
April 2011 for the Firm’s file on this matter to have come to light. We
therefore think it would be of assistance to the Committees to understand what
happened.

a. Once the Firm’s letter had been issued on 29 May 2007, this retainer came
to an end®®. The Firm issued its bill on 13 June 2007, and News
International paid it on 31 July 2007. The file went into archive storage
with an external storage company, Restore, on 10 November 2008%,

b. One by one, all those who had been involved in the retainer left the Firm
in the normal course of events, as set out above. Afier the last member of
the junior reviewing team left on 28 January 2011, there was literally no-
one left at the Firm who had had any involvement in the original retainer
at all.

¢. The first time that the Firm’s 2007 mvolvement was mentioned to
Parliament, so far as the Firm can ascertain, was in the evidence given to
the CMSC leading to its Sccond Report dated 24 February 2010. The
Firm’s name was not mentioned in oral evidence, but was mentioned in
written evidence and this was recorded in the appendices to the Second
Report (which also quoted in full the letter of 29 May 2007). The letter

% Apart from a small amount of time spent in June-fuly in obtaining for News International, at its request, a
transcript of the sentencing remarks of Mr Justice Gross on 26 Janwary 2007. A separate bill for this task of
£560 plus VAT and disbursements was issued on 31 Jaly 2007,

*’ The file would have been archived sooner but for the fact that, as mentioned in paragraph Ss above, Mr
Abramson was subsequently instructed by News International in February 2008 in relation to an alleged
breach by News International of the compromise agreement it had entered into with Mr Goedman. This
work was carried out on the same file using the same file number. The documents were stored on the same
paper and electronic files as those relating to the previous retainer.
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was referred to in para 435 of the Report, which commented that Mr
Abramson’s conclusions made “interesting reading”. There was no
criticism of the letter and no-one made any request of News International
or the Firm for the file or materials related to the retainer. It simply did
not oceur to the Firm to retrieve the file from archive to see if any original
documents from the 2007 had been retained on it.

d. It is worth recalling that what is of principal interest on the file is not the
documents which evidence the dialogue between lawyer and client, but the
hard copies of emails which were either supplied in hard copy-on 16 or 17
May 2007, or were printed off by the reviewing team at the Fiurrn and
given to Mr Abramson for his consideration. It is not surprising that the
Firm should have retained these documents: its practice, as is comuon
among solicitors, is to preserve and retain documents at the end of a
retainer for a number of years. As a result, this selection of documents
from News International’s records was preserved and still existed on the
file. It seems that the Firm’s copies of these documents from News
International’s own records are now the only remaining copies (on paper
or in electronic form) still in existence.

e. It was not until 24 March of this year when the Firm was asked by News
International’s then solicitors, Burton Copeland, to provide papers from
the file that it was retrieved from archive. A full set of the News
International emails was provided to Burton Copeland on 1 April 2011.

F ngrelgrsion

23

R G0t

On 14 July 2011, Mr Rupert Murdoch gave an interview to the Wall Street
Journal. The atticle reads “Mr Murdoch said the company had handled the
erisis ‘extremely well in every way possible’, making just ‘minor mistakes'.

He asserted, however, that a London law firm the company initially hired to

investigate, Harbottle & Lewis LLP, had made a ‘major mistake’ in
underestimating the scope of the problem.”

The Firm rejects News International’s self-serving view of the Firm’s role in
events. The Firm’s position is summarised as follows.

a. It was instructed only to look for evidence (in five sub-folders provided by
News International) suggesting either that certain named individuals knew

~ of and supported Mr Goodman’s involvement in phone hacking activities,
or that others at The News of the World were also carrying out phone
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hacking activities. It was not retained to look for evidence of wider
criminal activities and did not do so.

It was not given free rein to look through whatever it wanted. It was asked
to search through some emails which had been assembled by News
International and isolated into a specific area on News International’s
server {the “S sub-folders™). It was given no access to other documents or
to witnesses.

Its exercise was specifically and only to assist News International in
handling an intemnal appeal by Mr Goodman against his dismissal. This
was a classic civil litigation exercise in assessing the potency of
documentary evidence in an employment dispute. It was a short and
limited exercise lasting two weeks and mostly involving junior employees.
All this was known to News International.

The desktop exercise done by the Firm is to be contrasted with the far
fonger, far more detailed and (no doubt) far more expensive exercise
undertaken by Burton Copeland in the 9 months which that firm is said to
have spent in the News International offices. It may therefore be that Mr
Rupert Murdoch was confused or misinformed as to which lawyers had
been retained for what purpose when he gave evidence that the Firm had
been retained to “find out what the hell was going on”. At any rate, this
was an inaccurate and misleading account of the Firm’s retainer.

The Firm was not retained to provide News International with a “good
conduct certificate”™ which it could show to Parliament, or anyone else,
years after the event and for a wholly different purpose. Such use of the
Firm’s advice was expressly prohibited under its terms of engagement.
The Firm did not know that News International was subsequently going to
deploy its 2007 advice in this way (in 2009-2010) and would not have
given its consent to that use had it been sought.

The Firm rejects the evidence of Mr James Murdoch that News
International “rested on” the letter of 29 May 2007 for its alleged belief
(until late 2010y that Mr Goodman was a lone “rogue reporter”. It is
noteworthy that it has taken until 2011 for News International to make this
assertion.,
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2 The Firm could not possibly have reported News International to the
police if in the course of its 2007 retainer it had formed a view that News
International employees had been guilty of criminal activity. This would
have been contrary to settled law on the right of a client to have his affairs
kept confidential by his lawyer, and would have been improper as a matter
of professional conduct.

We believe that the above response together with the Firm’s covering letters
10 the Committees answers in full (within the confines of what may be said
pending criminal investigation) all the questions asked in the letiers to the
Firm from the Rt Hon Keith Vaz MP, Chairman of HAC, (letter dated 21 July
2011) and from John Whittingdale OBE MP, Chairman of the CMSC (letter
dated 29 July 2011). However, if we can assist further please let us know.

Conugist 2001

YA 2).doe
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a lawyer must be able 1o give his client an absolute and unqualified assurance that
whalever the client tells him in contidence wiil never be disclosed without his consent.

5 This is not a peculiarity of English law. In the Three Rivers decision, Lord Scott
set out authorities not only from this jurisdiction but also from the United States,
Europe, Canada, Australia and New Zealand which all speak with one voice (see
paras 31-34}. Lord Scott concluded that all these authorities

recognise that unless the clients can be assured that what they tell their lawyers witl not
be disclosed by the lawyers without their (the clients') consent, there will be cases in
which the requisite candour wilt be absent

and concluded that it is necessary as a matter of policy that

communications between clients and lawyers, whereby the clients are hoping for the
agsistance of the lawyers' legal skills in the management of their (the clients”) affairs,
should be secure against the possibility of any serutiny from others, whether the police,
the executive, business competitors, inquisitive busybodies or anyone else

6  Unsurprisingly this state of the law is reflected in the Code of Conduct issued by
the Solicitors Regulation Authority: see Rule 4.01 (“You and your firm must keep
the affairs of clients and former clients confidential except where disclosure is
required or permitted by law or by your client (or former client).’”) There are
very few circumnstances in which disclosure is either required or permitted by law,
none of which arise in this case. The only one which could have any relevance is
what is known as the “fraud exception™ pnvilege never attaches to
communications between lawyer and client if the client has a secret intention of
using the advice to enable him to further or facilitate crime or fraud. Please note
that this applies only where the client consults a lawyer with the motive of
obtaining advice which will assist him in the commission of an offence (not
privileged), as distinct from a client consulting a lawyer about an offence which
has already been committed (privileged). This distinction runs through all the
authorities but is neatly encapsulated in a dictum of Lord Sumner in O°Rourke v
Darbishire [1920] AC 581 at 613:

To consult a solicitor about an intended course of action, in order to be advised whether it
is legitimate or not, or to lay before a solicitor the facts relating to a charge of fraud,
actually made or anficipated, and make a clean breast of it with the object of being
advised about the best way to meet it, is a very different thing from consulting him in
order to learn how to plan, execute or stifle an actual fravd.

For the lawyer to appreciate that this exception is engaged, however, the lawyer
must have prima facie evidence suggesting that he is being used by the client in
that way. The Firm had no such evidence (and for the avoidance of doubt, is
making no suggestion in this response that News International had such a purpose).
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The Chairman ;
Home Affairs Committee

Commitiee Otfice House of Commons 7 Millbank London SWIP 3JA
Teel 020 7219 3274 fax 020 7219 2744 Email homeaficoma@parniarment .ok
Websita www.parlioment.uk/homeaffdiriscom

Glen Atchison
Harbottle and Lewis
Hagover House

14 Hanover Square
Landon ‘
WIS [HE

- 21% July 2011 ‘:

I’han-e‘:‘ha.cking

T am writing to thank you for your swift 1'esponsé to my letier yesterday.

[ am aware that Harbottle and Lewis have now been givén permission by News
Imternational to tadk to the Home Affairg Sclect Comenittee about the remit in the 2007
investigation of phone hacking at the News of the World,

The Committee would be grateful if you could now provide information on the following
questions: '

a  what was the exact remit given to Harbeitle and Lewis when it was
instructed by News International in 2007;

+ the contents of emails and information held in the file you mentioned in
your letter; ' '

»  what advice was provided from Harbottle and Lewis to News International
in 2007 following examination of the emails and informnation;

» why the evidence you had in the 2007 that was later examined by
Lotd MacDonald in 2011 was not acted upon sooner?

Thank you for your continued assistance with our inquiry.

(TP sty

Rt Hor Keith Vaz MP
Committee Chairman
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Culture, Media and Sport Committee

Howse of Commans / Millbank London SWIP 1A
Te! 020 7219 6188 Fax 020 7219 2031 Email crmscom@parliament.uk Website www parliament. dl/cmseom

Harbottle and Lewis LLP
Hanover House

14 Hanaver Square
London WS 1HP

k) BWatrddhe sk CTHVS | 29 July 2011
wtas v ;

Thark you for your letters of 20", 21% july and 28" July. | am pleased to note that
you-have received a waiver of privitege from News Corp and News international, in
relation to questions from the Select Committee.

You will be aware that in his evidence to the CMS Committee on 19 July 2011,
lames Murdach referred to the review of internal emails that Harbottle and Lowis
carried out for News International in May 2007. On 27 May 2007, Harbottle and
Lewis wrote to Jon Chapman, News International's Director of Legal Affairs at the
time, that : '

We have on your instructions reviewed the emails to which you have
provided access from the accounts of:

Andy Coulson, Stuart Kuttner, lan Edmaondson, Clive Goodman, Neil Wallis,
jules Stenson

{ can confirm that we did not find anything in those emails which appeared
to us to be reasonable evidence that Clive Goodman’s illegal actions were
known about and supported by both or either of Andy Caulson, the Editor,
and Neil Wallis, the Deputy £ditor, andfor that lan Edmondson, the News
Editor, and others were carrying out similar illegal procedures.

On 19 july 2011, James Murdoch told the Committee that the review of emails
conducted by Harbottie & Lewis was one of the things that News international
rested on when reassuring the Committee in 2009 that phone hacking was the

work of one rogue reporter (0346, Q3672). James Murdoch told the Committee

that when News Internationat re-examined the file of emails retained by Harbottle
and Ltewis in 2011 it determined that there was a requirement to bring it to the
attention of the police (335, 0339, Q363 and Q365).
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The Committee invites you to reconsider the letter of 27 May 2009 accepted as
evidence by the Committee in 2003,

'he Committee also requests that you respond in writing to the questions
appended to this letter. | note that some of the guestions would normally have
been covered by legal professional privilege. It is, however, our view that, by
putting in issue the legal advice it received, and by expressly referring to it to
support a claimed lack of guilty intent, News international has waived its legal
professional privilege. | would, therefore, expect you to be able to respond.

| note that you have undertaken to write to the Committee once you have had a
meeting with the Metropolitan Police. However, it would be heipful if you could
respond to the Commiites’s secretariat using the contact details abave, | wouid
appreciate your respense no later than 11 August,
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00 J JOHN WHITTINGDALE QOBE MP
Y CHAIRMAN
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Questions for written answer

1.

Ln

10.

i

12.

When was Harbottle and Llewis first instructed in respect of matters
concerning alleged or suspected phone-hacking?

Were these instructions given on behaif of News International Ltd, News
Group Newspapers Ltd, or on behalf of both?

Please could you provide details of the instructions, including a copy of any
document in which the instructions were reduced into writing.

Which individual gave the instructions on behalf of News International
Lid/News Group Newspapers Lid, and to which individuatl at Harboltle
and Lewis were the instructions addrassed?

Please supply details of Harbottle and Lewis's primary point of contact at
News International Ltd/News Group Newspapers Ltd. You have
explained in your letter of 20 July to the Chairman that Mr Lawrence
Abramson acted in this matter on a retainer from New International.
Please confirm whether or not any other mernber of your firm was
invoived in preparing advice under this retainer, and please identity any
such person,

What description of the emails provided was supplied to Harbottle and
Lewis by News international Ltd/News Group Newspapers Ltd? Please
supply a copy of any relevant letter or communication from the
Correspondence File mentioned in your letter of 20 July.

Please indicate whether Harbottle and Lewis became aware at any time that
the documentation supplied was incomplete and, if so, please describe
in what way it was incomplete.

Please indicate whether any particular type of activity was exciuded from
the scope of the investigation commissionead from Harbottle and Lewis,

Did the investigation extdnd to other individuals at the newspaper, for
instance Neville Thurlbeck and Ross Hindley/Hall if not, why not?

Please descrive any additional documentation reguested by Harbottle and
Lewis in connaction with their investigation.

Please set out what advice was given oraily, by whom, to whom, and when.

Please set out what advice was given in writing, by whom, to whom, and
when.

.Please confirm whether or not the documents provided to Harbottle and

Lewis provided any grounds for reasonable suspicion that a criminal act
might have been or might be committed by any employee or director of
News international |.td or of News Group Newspapers Ltd, and if 5o,
what advice was given by Harbottle and Lewis?

. Please confirm when Mr Abramsan closed his file and retained it in archived

storage. Please also confirm whether or not the contents of the file

A?j



rotrieved from the archive earlier this year are the same as those of the
fita closed by Mr Abramson.

15. Plaase sel out any matiers in respect of which Harbottle and Lewis believes
that this Cutture, Media and Sport Select Cormnmittee or its predecessor
may have been given misleading, or inaccurate information about the
review undertaken by Harbottle and Lewis.
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H

Lhapman, Jon [jon.chapman@newsint.co.uk]
5 iAmy 2007 15:43
Lawrence Abramson

S Cloke, Daniel
i 43ur convarsation
PETHER AND CONFIDENTIAL

s esiaary 2007, we terminated the employment of Clive Goodman, the Royal Correspondent of the
: ‘Morid, following his imprisonment for conspiracy to intercept voicemail messages. This
as carried out through a private investigator, Glen Mulcaire, who was atso imprisoned.

| vou the termination letter and letters of 2 March, 12 March and 14 March relatmg to an
st dismissal. .

14 March requests, at paragraphs iv, v, vi, vii and viii, cartain emails which Goodman
polantially relevant to his appeal. This request was refused. However, both myself and
¢ head of HR, went through alt the emails fitting into the above categories which our IT
sre able to recover from archive.

e of

f this exercise was to find any evidence in such emails to support the contentions made by
lutter of 2 March, paragraphs i and ii - ie that his illegal actions were known about and
gand that ¥

=and others were carrying out similar illegal procedures '
rediiirg that amounted to reasonable evidence of either of the above contentions.

i bad publicity that could result in an allegation in an employment tibunal that we had
tentially darmaging evidence found on our email trawl, | would ask that you, or a colleague,
spendent review of the emails in question and report back to me with any findings of
ouid possibly tend to support either of Goodman s contentions,

Ve et rrsskie available to you access to the emails in question as soon as possible.

o Aoyt hesttate to contact me for any further clarification.

v ad best wishes.

wie + 44 (0)20 7782 6084
A4 (0)20 7782 6094
i chapman@newsint.co.uk

“tease capsider the emvironment befere printing this.e-mail™
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The Newspaper Marketing Agency: Opening Up Newspapers:

www.nmauk.co.uk

This e-mail and all attachments are confidential and may be privileged. If you have received this e-
mail in error, notify the sender immediately. Do not use, disseminate, store or copy it in any way.
Statements or opinions in this e-mail or any attachment are those of the author and are not
necessarily agreed or authorised by News International (NI). NI Group may monitor emails sent or
received for operational or business reasons as permitted by law. NI Group accepts no liability for -
viruses introduced by this e-mail or attachments. You should employ virus checking software. News
International Limited, 1 Virginia St, London E98 1XY, is the holding company for the News
International group and is registered in England No 81701
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- News International Limited

| Virginia Street London E98 1XY
Telephone: +44 (0) 207 782 6057 Facsimile: +44 (0) 207 78%’60%

Facsimile Message from Corporate Legal‘.’%?fall‘s
0 Lowlency  Aacumson
*: Nﬁ"} ;_ 6@,7. ‘S ‘ OO

Fags Nogr q Pages (including this page)

PRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTTAL

wraiion contained In this facsimila Is intended for the named recipients only. It may contain privifeged and confldential
-, i you are nal an intended reciplent, you imust not copy, dislribute, or take any action In refiancs on il Hyou
+ad lhts facsimile in error, plazsa nolify the sender Immediately by lelephone call to 020-7782 5058 or 020.7782

aeg yeduim the osiginal by post. We will reimbuese you the postage.
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{On headed notepaper}

PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL
BY COURIER

Clive Goodman Fsq,

5 February 2007
D " Dear Clive

- 1 am sorry to have to be writing this letter, but am afraid that events of the last few
days and months provide us no choice but to terminate your emnployment with News

Group NﬂWSpapBI'S Limited.

Thxs action, I know you understand, is the consequerice of your plea of guilty, and
subsequent iraprisonment on 26 fanmary, in relation to conspiracy to intercept
voicemail messages, This obviously constitutes a very serious breach of your
obligations as an employee such as to warrant dismissal without any warnings. Inn the
circumstances of your plea and the court’s seutence, it is reasonable for us to dismiss

you without any further enquirjes.

I'recognise this episode followed many unblemished, and frequently distinguished,
years af service to the News of the World. In view of this, and in recognition of the
pressures on your family, it has been decided that upon your termination you will
receive one year’s salary, In all the circimstances, we would of course be entitled to
make no payment whatever,

To summarise, in formal language, the following arrangements apply with immediate
effect (but may be veried or revoked in the event of a successful disciplinary appeal);

(2) Your dismissal takes effect immediately and your final day of employment is
therefore today.

B
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) You will bs paid, through payroll, on 6 February 2007, 12 months’ base
salary, subject to normal deductions of tax and national insurance.

{c} You must arrange for the return of any property, such as any laptop computer
or mobile phone, belonging to us, in good condition, by 28 February.

(d} We shall forward your P45 to you in due courye,

Lo

fuain? Cliva, I arn deeply sorry we have found jt necessary to take thlS 16 %Sure, but
v iave no other choice, R

(2f course, you have the right to appeal against your dismissal. If you wish to appeel
yeu {or your legal representative) must do so in writing to Stuart Kuttner within two
wecks of the date of this letter. You would then have the opportunity to present your
“ate at an appeal hearing {n accordance with our disciplinary procedure, Yoy may be

weompanded at the hearing by a fellow employee or 2 NISA tepresentative, Lodging
w sppest will not delay the dismissal taking offect.

»

- yot have any questions, please contact Stuart Kuttner,

Yours sincorely,

Les Hinton
tixecutive Chairman

Pewr Tnternational Limited

55



4 P17l 782 6894

G171 782 6094

1@~-MaY-2087  17/08

Daniel Cloke Esq.

Group Human Resources Director
News international

1 Virginia Street

London £198 1HR -

March 2 2007 =

Deor Mr Cloke,
Re.: Nollce of termination of employment

| refer to Les Minton's letter of February §, 2007 informing me of my dismissai for
alleged gross misconduct.

The lefter identifles the reason for the dismissal as "recent events”. | fake this to
mean my plea of guilly to conspiracy to Intercept the voicemail messages of

three employees of iha royal family.
| am appealing against this decision on the following grounds:

i The declsion is péwerse in that the actions leading to this criminal
charge were canled ouf with the full knowledge and support of AEREGEGGETr

Glen Mulcaire's services was arranged by eamsisss

@ fi The decision is inconsistent, Dacause .
v ey o4 other members of staff were carrying out the same llegol
procedurss. The prosecution counsel, the counsel for Glen Mulcoirs, ond the
Judge at the sentencing hearing agreed that other News of the World
ernployees were the cllents for Mulcalre's five solo substantive chorges. This
practice was widely discussed in the dally editorial conference. uniil oxplici
reference 1o it was banned by the Editor, As far as | am aware, no other
member of staff has faced discipinary action, much less dismissal.

il My conviction and imprisonment cannot be the real reason for my

dismissal. The fegal manager, Tom Crone, atfended virtually every meeting of .

rmy legal feam and was given full access to the Crown Prosecution Service's
avidence files. He, and other senior staff of the paper, had long advance
knowledge that | would plead guilty. Despite this, the paper confinued o
employ me. Throughout my suspension, | was given book seratisafions jo
write and wos consulted on several occasions about royal stories they
needed 1o check. The paper confinved to employ me for a substantial part
of my custodial sentence,

BG

Payment for
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v Torm Crone and the Editor p'romised on many occasions that | could
come back fo a job af the newspaperif | did not implicate the paper or any
of its staff in my mitigation plea. | did not, and | expect the paper to honour

its promise fo me.- :

v The dismissal is outomaticolly unfair as the company failed to go
through the minimum required statutory dismissal procedures.

B T

Yours sincerely,

Clve Goodmaon

ce Stuart Kutiner, Managing Editor, News of the World
Les Hinton, Executive Chairman, News Intemational Lid

b7
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L 0171 782 6094 -
News International Newspapers Limited

1 Virginia Streat, London, £98 1HR
Telephone: 020 7782 6300 Fax: 020 7481 0517

PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL
12th March 2007

Mr, Clivé Goodman

Dear Mr. Goodman,

Thank you for your letter of 2nd March 2007.

I would like to request your attendance at an appeal hearing on Tuesday, 20th March

. 2007 at 10.00 am at the offices of News Magazines Limited at 2 Chelsea Manor
Gardens, London SW3 6PN (when you arrive there, pleass agk for me at Reception).
The purpose of the hearing is to consider, under the News Intsmational disciplinary
procedurs, your appeal againat your dismigsal on 5th February, on the grounds
raised in your letter of 2nd March.

The appeal will be heard by Colin Myler, Editor of the News of the World, and 1 will
also be in attendance. In addition, there will be a note taker present. You are
entitled to be accompanied as spacified in the Company's Disciplinary procedure.
Please let me know in advance if you decide to bring a companion and their name
and contact datails, '

If there are any documents you wish to be considered at the appeal hearing, please
provide copies as soon as possible, If you do not have those documents, please
provide details so that they can be obtained.

HE
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I should point out that appeals against dismissal under our discipiinary procedure
would generally be considersd by the Dismissal Appeals Panel, which consists of
smployee and management representatives. However, News International has the
right to disregard or disapply any part of this procedure on a case-by-case basis in
eXce;jiiénai"circuniétances and where there are reasonabfe grounds for dolng so.
Given that your notice of appeal makes extremely serious allegations against a
number of employses, it is clearly inappropriate for your appeal to be considared by
this Panel, ‘ R

I'would be grateful if you could confirm that you have received this lotter and that you
will altend at the time stated above. If, for any unavoidabie reason, you or your
companion cannot attend at that time, please contact me by telephone.

If you have any other questions, please contact me as soon as possible.

Yours sincerely,

Daniel Cloke
B Qroup Human Resources Director -
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Daniet Cloke £3q.

Group Human Resources Director
News International

1 Virginia Street

London E98 1HR

March 14, 2007

Daear Mr Cloke,

Thank you for your letier of Morch 12, Although | can confirm thot | will be
able to altend the planned appeal hearing on March 20, for the reasons set
out below, | believa it would be sens:b%e and reasonobile to postpone the

hearng.

I note that you are proposing to alter subsianﬁany the nomal procedure for
such a hearing. | am nol convinced thot the proposad alterafions are
necessary. However, In light of the exceptional circumstances you identify in
your lefter, | think it would be sensible for me to be accempanled by my legal -
representative rather thon awerk colleague. Please confirm to me you are

happy to proceed on this basis.

| will et you have copies of refevant documents In my possession as soon as
possible.

in the rmeontimae, | would be grateful if you could provide the following
documeants:

i A transcription of the sentencing hearing from the D!d Bailey on January
26, 2007,

i Full detdils available by a print out of every story payment requested by
me from October 2005 uniil my arest - to include details of which executive
approvwed each credit for payment, which executive authorised eoch credit
for final payment, and from which budget each credit come! Also, the same
audlt fral for story payment requests from me thot were not authorised for

payment,

il Emails and other documents relating to my fronsfer from the Ediforial
management budget to ihe News budget and any further relevant

documents,

v Copiles of emails passing berwesn AN AN Mo, A
ond me, e ond me, A ¢ and me, anc QTN ; ¢

me for the period October 2005 unfﬂ Jonuary 26 2007,

B0
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v Copies of emnails passing batween SessseliEme; o c ey o
the perod October 2005 until the present day insofar as fhey refafe To me or
any work coried out by me, or relate to Glen Mulcdire or ‘Alexander' or any
work camed out by him.

vi  Copies of emails possing between s o n - S For
the perod Oc’robgar 2005 until the present day insofar as thay relate to me or
any work ganledi Gut by me, or relate to Glen Mulcaire or ' Alexander’ or any

work caried oty him.

vii  Copies of emails possing to and from Iwmsmgs: L o7
the period October 2005 until the present day msol’ar as they relate to me or
any work corried out by me, or relate to Glen Mulcoire or ‘Alexandesr’ or any
work camied out by him.

@. it Copies of emoils possing batween SRR g E®ond
gl uiag he pedod from Augusf 2006 to the presani day insofor os
they relate to me or any work comed out by me: ,orrelate to Glen Muleaire or
‘Alexander’ or any work camed out by h:m Further, copies of any emails
passing between MMERNRERED  and wEes _elahng to my ciminagl case.

RN ¥ mobile phone records for 2005, 2006 ond
2007 showing caus ro ancl frorn Glen Muicaire.

appointments diary for the period from Abgust

i

X Copies of naSmRm
2004 1o the present ddf o.

x A full franscription of Les Hinton's testimony fo the Deportment of Cultura,
Madla and Sport's sefect commifiee hearing Into the seif regulation of the
Press, given on Maorch é 2007,

In view of the addifional documents that are essential in order tor me to
prepare properly for the appeal hearing, ! think It sensible and reasonable to
reschedule Tuesday's meeting until | have been given reosonabie fime fo
consider these further documents,

Hook forward to your response as soon as possible.

Yours sinceraly,

Clve Goodmon
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LEGAL PROFESSIONAL PRIVILEGE

The privilege belongs to the client, not the lawyer. This is absolutely clear on the
law. The lawyer has no power to decide what is and is not released from
privilege: only the client can do this, In fact, the lawyer has a positive
professional obligation to assert the privilege on behalf of his client unless it has
been waived (R v Central Criminal Court ex p Francis & Francis [1989] | AC
346; Bolkiah v KPMG [1999] 2 AC 222) and so the Court may intervene to
prevent a lawyer from breaking a client’s privilege (Harmony Shipping v Saudi
Eunrope Line [1979] 1 WLR 1380).

The right to communicate in absolute confidence with a lawyer is now recognised
by the House of Lords as a fundamental human right: Morgan Grenfell v
Special Commissioner of Income Tax [2003] | AC 563. The absolute nature of
the right is graphically illustrated by the decision of the House of Lords in R v
Derby Magistrates ex p B {1996] 1 AC 487, in which it was held that privilege
even protects a confession to a lawyer of having committed murder.

This is not a balancing act, in which the Courts (still less the lawyers) weigh up
the relative importance of the information against the right of the client to preserve
privilege. Privilege is absolute unless over-ridden by express primary legislation.
In one of the leading modern cases in the subject, Three Rivers DC v Bank of
England [2005] 1 AC 610, Lord Scott explained this at para 24:

if a communication or document qualifies for legal professional privilegs, the privilege is
absolute. It cannot be overridden by some supposedly greater public interest. It can be
waived by the person, the client, entitled to it and it can be overridden by statute (cf R (
Morgan Grenfell & Co Ltd) v Special Comr of Tncome Tax {2003} } AC 563 ), but it
is otherwise absolute. There is no balancing exercise that has o be carried oul; see B v
Auckland District Law Society [2003] 2 AC 736 , 756-759, paras 46-54). The Supreme
Couwrt of Canada has held that legal professional privilege although of great importance is

not absolute and can be set aside if a sufficiently compelling public interest for doing so, .

such as public safety, can be shown: see Jones v Smith [1599] 1 SCR 455 . But no other
common law jurisdiction has, so far as | am aware, developed the law of privilege in this
way. Certainly in this country legal professional privilege, if it is attracted by a particular
cormmunication between lawyer and client or attaches to a particuiar document, cannot be
set aside on the ground that some other higher public interest requires that to be done,

The reason for this absolute privilege existing is because all over the world, it has
been recognised that the proper administration of justice requires that a client can
consult a lawyer in the absolute certainty that whatever the client tells the lawyer,
whatever the lawyer leams about the client, the lawyer is bound not to
communicate that information to any third party. As Lord Millett put it in B v
Auckland District Law Society [2003] 2 AC 736 at para 47:
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